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     A Driving & Walking Tour	  

	 This tour of Wyuka Cemetery is designed to be accessible 
from the roadways of the Cemetery, while offering additional points 
of interest to those willing and able to meander through various 
sections adjacent to the car route.  All of the roadside Tour Stops 
are marked with numbered signs.  There are additional directional 
arrows at the intersections to help guide you.   Section Walks are 
supplemental to the Tour Stops and are indicated by maps inserted 
into the text. 
	 Wyuka Cemetery was established by an act of the Nebraska 
Legislature in 1869 to provide a “Lincoln State Cemetery” for the 
new state’s capital city, founded just two years before.  The three 
original trustees rejected the first site provided by the State—flood-
prone ground along Salt Creek west of Lincoln, near the State 
Asylum (now the Lincoln Regional Center).  Instead in 1869 they 
purchased 80 acres of rolling terrain east of the city on which to 
establish a “rural cemetery,” the latest trend in American burial 
grounds.  Mount Auburn Cemetery near Boston, established in 
1831, innovated this new type of large, scenic, park-like cemetery, 
with curving roads accentuating the lay of the land and abundant 
plantings of trees, shrubs and flowers.  Visitors were encouraged to 
stroll, remember, and learn about their community’s past.  Today’s 
visitors to Wyuka continue this tradition.  
	 The trustees named the new cemetery after Wyuka Cem-
etery in Nebraska City, which was established in 1855.  The name is 
apparently derived from the Otoe language, spelled as an English-
speaker might hear the Native American phrases signifying “he lies 
down” or “place of reclining.” This blending of Otoe and English 
seems highly appropriate  for the name of a cemetery embodying 
Nebraska history. 
	 The cemetery expanded from those first purchases and now 
encompasses over 140 acres between O and Vine Streets.  Wyuka 
Cemetery was listed on the National Register of Historic Places 
in 1982 as an outstanding example of the beautiful rural cemetery 
form.  Wyuka retains its close connection to the State of Nebraska, 
as the Governor appoints the board of trustees who govern the non-
profit corporation.
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		  Section 1

The main entrance to Wyuka Cemetery from O Street provides a love-
ly view of Rudge Memorial Chapel, built of Indiana limestone in the 
Gothic Revival style and completed in 1938 from designs by the Lin-
coln architects Davis & Wilson.  The cost of the chapel—a well-spent 
$30,000—was donated by the family of Charles H. Rudge, who had 
grown a downtown hardware store into Rudge & Guenzel Depart-
ment Store at South 13th and N Streets before his death in 1921.  (The 
Rudge Family monument in Section 13 is Tour Stop 33.)  The chapel’s 
austere interior features a lovely oak pulpit carved with acorns and 
oak leaves.  Funerals and occasional weddings are held in the small 
building, which seats about 75.

Tour Stop 1: Rudge 
Memorial Chapel
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		         Section 1

The Beeson family plot features 
brown granite markers for Smith 
H. and Mary E. Beeson.  Mr. 
Beeson was one of nearly 1,000 
Civil War veterans buried at Wyu-
ka, achieving the rank of Second 
Lieutenant in the 8th Iowa Cav-
alry after early serving in the in-
fantry and gunboat services.  He 
worked as a carpenter in Lincoln 
before he died in the Soldiers and 
Sailors Home at Milford, Nebras-
ka in 1928 at 87 years of age, 15 
years after his wife’s death.  

A short distance east of the Beeson 
plot is the ornate monument of 
the Merrill family.  Samuel Merrill 
was born in England in 1805 and 
died in Pleasant Dale, Nebraska 
in 1884.  Also interred in the fam-
ily plot were Mr. Merrill’s wife 
Martha and their daughter-in-
law Catherine.  Their bluish-gray 
marker is not stone, but rather was 
cast of zinc by the Western White 
Bronze Company of Des Moines, 
Iowa.  This late-nineteenth tech-
nique allowed the casting of rich-
ly detailed monuments.  Wyuka 
has about a half-dozen “white 
bronze” monuments, several of 
which are identified on this tour.  
The three links of chain depicted 
on the Merrill monument sym-
bolize the IOOF or International 
Order of Odd Fellows, a fraternal 
group. 

Tour Stop 
2: Beeson 

& Merrill
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	 	 Section 2

Wyuka’s oldest monuments were 
typically white marble tablets, 
many of which are being worn 
smooth by the natural forces of 
weather and lichens.  Hughina 
Morrison’s marker in Section 2 
is the oldest known gravestone 
in the cemetery, commemorat-
ing her death at age 44 in 1869, 
the year of Wyuka’s founding.  
A carved hand on her grave-
stone points skyward toward a 
nearly illegible inscription that 
originally read “Gone Home.”  
The grave of her husband John 
Morrison is marked beside Mrs. 
Morrison’s with the taller mar-
ble pier.

Tour Stop 
3: Hughina 
Morrison
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	  Section 2

Walk

Walking sections allow you to take a break from 
the driving tour and enjoy a turn around the park-
like atmosphere of Wyuka Cemetery.  Use this sec-
tion map as a guide to the stops detailed on the 
next few pages. 

          • •Ramey
Parish
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		  Section 2

William M. Parish (1841-1906) 
served in a Wisconsin regiment 
in the Civil War, then settled in 
Nebraska in 1873, first in Wil-
ber, then in Lincoln by 1889.  He 
operated furnished rooms and 
hotels, including the building at 
the northeast corner of 14th and 
O Streets which bears his name.  
He was active with other Union 
veterans in Lincoln’s Farragut 
G.A.R. Post 25. (The G.A.R. was 
a popular organization of Union 
veterans of the Civil War.) Nellie 
Parish (1849-1896) was interred 
a decade before her husband.  
Her obituary rhapsodized: 
“They had been companions 
from very early childhood, and 
when, on her eighteenth birth-
day, she gave her hand to the 
man of her choice, she gave her 
whole heart in it.”  Their lime-
stone monument, in the form 
of a pier topped by a book and 
draped with a cloth, is signed by 
the Lincoln stonecarver Joseph 
Barwick. 

Parish

Walk
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	  Section 2

Dr. Walter W. Ramey (1866-1932) 
and Mary Elizabeth Ramey 
(1862-1945) share a family plot 
marked with a tall monument 
of pink granite, marked by the 
Kimball Bros. Monument Com-
pany.  Both Rameys were school 
teachers in Unadilla, Nebraska 
before their marriage.  He later 
attended medical school at Cot-
ner College in Bethany Heights 
and then in Cincinnati.  He 
practiced in Adams, Nebraska, 
before settling in Lincoln with 
his wife Mary Elizabeth in 1902.  
He purchased the grand McFar-
land mansion at North 14th and 
Q Streets and equipped it as a 
hospital called Lincoln Hospi-
tal or sometimes “Ramethenian 
Restorium.”  It was described in 
1917 as offering 25 beds and be-
ing “provided with every mod-
ern appliance and equipment to 
aid in the successful treatment of 
disease, whether the treatment 
required is of a medical or sur-
gical nature.”  He later was on 
staff at St. Elizabeth and Bryan 
Memorial Hospitals.

Ramey

Walk
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		  Section 2

A large brown granite marker on a gray granite base celebrates the 
life and commemorates the death of Walter Dameron (1884-1911), a 
young fireman who was “Killed in a wreck on Burlington Railroad 
near Indianola, Neb.”  Two steam trains collided head-on in that 
grim event, killing eighteen crew members and passengers, includ-
ing five railroad workers from Lincoln.  On the reverse side of the 
stone is the monogram “B of LE” (for “Brotherhood of Locomotive 
Engineers”) and an etching of a handsome steam locomotive.  
 
The large and conspicuously placed monument served as a remind-
er of the frequent dangers of railroaders’ work.   Addison Sheldon 
of the Nebraska State Historical Society eulogized one of the slain 
engineers, John Hyder, saying that “a great railroad accident in a 
railroad town like Lincoln brings to every home a sense of personal 
loss....[All people]...find themselves merged in the railroader with 
a sudden sense of the perils inseparable from the life of those who 
daily drive the great machines of steel and steam across our prairies 
making our cities possible and our farms worth cultivation.”

Tour Stop 
4: Dameron
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	  Section 4

Tour Stop 5: 
Mausoleums 
& Receiving 
Vault

Wyuka’s early mausoleums were clustered in one area of the cem-
etery to maintain the open, park-like appearance of the rest of the 
grounds.  The E. E. Brown family mausoleum of 1911 was erected 
three years after the death of Erastus E. Brown, an attorney, banker, 
and second mayor of Lincoln (in 1872-3)--the earliest of the nearly 
two dozen Lincoln mayors interred in the cemetery.  His promi-
nence is reflected in his list of pallbearers, which included William 
Jennings Bryan in the year of his third and final presidential cam-
paign. 

Mausoleums such as the Browns’ were equivalent in cost to a sub-
stantial house, largely because of the massive size and weight of the 
stones used.  The granite roof of the structure consists of just three 
slabs and the stones forming the walls run the length of the build-
ing.  A handsome leaded-glass window lights the marble-lined in-
terior. 
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		  Section 4

The Receiving Vault on the 
curved driveway between the 
Brown and Raymond Mauso-
leums is the oldest building in 
the cemetery, constructed in 
1886 from designs of John H. 
W. Hawkins, a Cornell gradu-
ate newly arrived in Lincoln 
for a brief but highly produc-
tive half-decade.  (The Phil-
lips Castle at South 19th and D 
Streets is Hawkins’ best-known 
Lincoln project.)  The limestone 
Receiving Vault was built to 
hold caskets of remains when 
the ground was too hard-frozen 
in the winter to open graves.  It 
combines architecture and land-
scape elements to achieve the de-
sired effect.  The hillside behind 
the little Romanesque Revival 
building is banked up against it 
to set the structure further into 
the earth.  An arc of four tall, 
bluish concolor firs accentuate 
the front drive, contrasting with 
a backdrop of darker Norway 
spruce behind the building. 

Tour Stop 5 
cont. 
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	  Section 4

Tour Stop 
5 cont.

The Raymond Mausoleum flanks the Receiving Vault and contains 
the remains of at least eight members of the Raymond family, who 
operated wholesale businesses in Haymarket supplying grocery 
and drug stores.  Isaac M. Raymond was also a founder of banks 
in Hastings and Lincoln, and served in the Nebraska Senate in the 
1880s.  The Raymond mausoleum, like the Vault, emerges from a 
bank of earth. The effect is further underscored by the rough tex-
ture of the granite just above the bank, contrasting with the smooth 
texture of the rest of the tiny Neo-classical temple.
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		  Section 3

Through the fence, another cem-
etery is visible on the south side 
of O Street.  It began as St. The-
resa Cemetery on a ten-acre par-
cel purchased by Bishop James 
O’Conner of Omaha in 1877, ten 
years before the Lincoln dio-
cese was formed and Thomas 
Bonacum became Lincoln’s first 
Catholic bishop.  Lincoln’s Cath-
olic burial ground was renamed 
Calvary Cemetery in the early 
twentieth century.

The cast-iron fence along the O 
Street frontage of Wyuka bears 
the trademark of John Seaton of 
Atchison, Kansas.  It was first 
installed in 1891 around the 
original campus of the Univer-
sity of Nebraska, which con-
sisted of ten acres bounded by 
R, T, North 10th, and North 12th 
Streets.  The narrow gateways 
of the fence impeded efforts of 
Lincoln firefighters to combat 
fires on campus, including one 
that severely damaged the State 
Museum building in 1912.  This 
helped inspire Charles Morrill to 
make donations that resulted in 
a new natural history museum.  
Construction of Morrill Hall be-
gan in 1925 and that same year, 
the campus fence was removed 
and reinstalled at Wyuka, with 
a wide front entrance. 

Tour Stop 
6: Fence
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	  Section 4

A polished monument of black granite recalls the life and work of 
Gordon MacRae, actor and singer.  He was best-known for his role 
as “Curly” in the movie Oklahoma, singing “Oh What a Beautiful 
Morning,” a measure of which is inscribed across the top of the 
stone.  His credits also included Carousel, The Best Things in Life 
Are Free, and The Big Punch.  He starred five times with Doris Day.  
Mr. MacRae adopted Lincoln as a family-friendly place to raise his 
daughter.  He became a Nebraska football fan and sometimes sang 
the National Anthem for Cornhusker football games.  He died in 
Lincoln in 1986 at age 64.  At the base of the stone is an epitaph from 
a less successful actor who achieved greater prominence in his sec-
ond career--in politics.  President Ronald Reagan said that “Gordon 
will always be remembered wherever beautiful music is heard.” 

Tour 
Stop 7: 
MacRae
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		  Section 4

Northeast of the MacRae grave-
stone is an ornate early monu-
ment of limestone, marble, and 
granite, with two polished gran-
ite columns.  Marked “Witte,” 
it dates from a century before 
MacRae’s, recording the death 
of Henry Witte (1821-1886), his 
wife Dora (1840-1893), and mem-
bers of their family.  The monu-
ment is also inscribed “Kimball 
Bros., Albia, Iowa.”  That family 
of monument makers relocated 
from Albia to Lincoln in 1887 
and produced many of Wyuka’s 
most ornate monuments from 
the 1880s to 1930s.  Perhaps 
Mrs. Witte had some reason 
to order this gravestone from 
Iowa, thereby introducing the 
Kimballs to Lincoln.  More like-
ly they brought the monument 
with them from Iowa upon their 
move in 1887 and completed it 
here for the Witte family.

Tour Stop 8: 
Witte 
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	  Section 5

Walk

•

•

Hartley•
•
•

Hathaway

Sawyer

Bell Ringer

Kennard
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		  Section 5

The Hathaway Family grave-
stone is a tall granite monolith, a 
single stone weighing approxi-
mately three tons, carved in the 
form of a tree trunk.  The State 
Granite and Marble Company 
of Lincoln produced the monu-
ment for $600 around 1890.  The 
tree motif is fairly common at 
Wyuka, probably symbolizing 
death in the branchless stump, 
and resurrection in the carved 
vine with leaves.  Around the 
base of the family monument are 
eight markers including “Papa” 
Hiram Hathaway and “Mama” 
Anna.  Sons Charles (b. 1861), 
Fred (b. 1863), and Frank (b. 
1866) all died as young adults of 
illnesses in 1881, 1883, and 1894 
respectively.  Hiram Hathaway 
was an owner of the Nebraska 
State Journal and all three sons 
worked for the newspaper pub-
lisher, so their early deaths were 
commemorated in long obituar-
ies.

Hathaway
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	  Section 5

The family monument of An-
drew J. and Winona Sawyer is 
a polished granite sphere, in-
scribed with their surname.  A. 
J. Sawyer (1844-1924) was an 
attorney, banker, and public ser-
vant, having held offices of state 
senator, Mayor of Lincoln, and 
U. S. Attorney.  He also edited a 
highly useful history of Lincoln 
and Lancaster County, published 
in 1916.  

Prior to settling in Lincoln in 
1875 and commencing his legal 
career, Mr. Sawyer had been a 
teacher, principal, and school 
superintendent in Illinois. There 
he met and married Winona 
Branch, a teacher.  Elected as 
mayor in 1887 on a reform plat-
form, Mr. Sawyer clashed with 
Police Judge Albert Parsons, 
charging that the judge was 
pocketing fines levied against 
saloons and brothels.  Mayor 
Sawyer and the City Council 
removed Parsons from office 
despite an injunction Parsons 

obtained from a federal judge 
in St. Louis. The Mayor and his 
Council colleagues were jailed 
in Omaha for a week for con-
tempt of court.  Their attorney 
traveled to Washington, D.C. 
by train and obtained a writ of 
habeas corpus from the U. S. Su-
preme Court, freeing them and 
upholding their actions against 
the corrupt judge. 

Sawyer
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		  Section 5

The natural quartzite boulder 
marking the Hartley family 
plot contrasts with the highly 
sculpted Hathaway and Sawyer 
monuments.  Elias T. Hartley 
(1848-1914) served as the young 
superintendent of Lincoln Pub-
lic Schools from 1883 to 1890.  
Lincoln’s population boomed 
from about 13,000 to 55,000 dur-
ing the decade of the 1880s.  Ten 
elementary schools were con-
structed during Hartley’s eight-
year tenure.  He later developed 
an orchard north of the Belmont 
neighborhood.  Hartley Elemen-
tary School at North 33rd and 
Vine Streets, built in 1919, bears 
Mr. Hartley’s name, as does the 
neighborhood around it, which 
includes Wyuka Cemetery.

Hartley
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	  Section 5

A tall granite slab east of the 
Hartley marker bears the me-
lodic name “Bell Ringer,” which 
came about when Ortha Bell’s 
daughter Jane married Frank 
Ringer.  After Mr. Ringer died 
in 1920, his 43-year-old widow 
returned to school and became 
a chiropractor, Dr. Jane Bell 
Ringer (1877-1975).  She died at 
age 98 in California and is in-
terred between her father and 
husband.  All three have bronze 
insignias beside their individual 
markers.  Ortha Bell, a veteran 
of the Union Army, has the star 
of the G.A.R.  Jane Bell Ringer 
has the spinning wheel and dis-
taff of the D.A.R. or Daughters 
of the American Revolution.  
She was a founder of Lincoln’s 
Deborah Avery D.A.R. Chapter.  
Frank Ringer’s bronze cross sig-
nifies his service in the Spanish-
American War.

Bell Ringer
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		  Section 5

Walk

Decades older than the granite 
Bell Ringer gravestone is the 
nearby marble marker of the 
Kennard Family.  It was prob-
ably installed after the death 
of Livia Kennard in 1887.  Her 
husband Thomas P. Kennard 
was Nebraska’s first Secretary of 
State in 1867.  Kennard, Gover-
nor David Butler, and Auditor 
John Gillespie formed the Capi-
tal Commission, tasked with se-
lecting and developing the seat 
of the new state government.  
They were truly the “town fa-
thers” of Lincoln.  Mr. Kennard 
settled in Lincoln for a long 
business career before his death 
in 1920 at age 92.  His Italianate-
style house at 1627 H Street was 
built in 1868 to help jump-start 
the new city.  It still stands, un-
der the stewardship of the Ne-
braska State Historical Society, 
as the oldest house in the city.

Kennard
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	  Section 3

The Territory of Nebraska 
raised a Union Army regiment 
which served with distinction in 
the Civil War.  One of the regi-
ment’s most unique members 
was Harrison Johnson, a native 
of Arkansas (1849-1900).  Af-
rican Americans were not en-
listed in the Union Army until 
President Lincoln changed the 
nation’s policy with the Eman-
cipation Proclamation in 1863, 
and the First Nebraska Regi-
ment was officially all-white.  
Mr. Johnson was a slave and an 
African American who escaped 
and took refuge with Nebras-
ka’s First Regiment.  He was al-
lowed to enlist as a private and 
served out the war with the Ne-
braska regiment.  After the war 
he settled in Lincoln, joined the 
Farragut Post of the G.A.R. and 
worked as a hotel cook and jani-
tor.   

Mr. Johnson’s headstone is also 
the sole marker of the graves of 
his wife Margaret (1854-1926) 
and their son John Johnson 
(1879-1953) and his wife Odessa 
(1891-1953).  John Johnson was 
a talented photographer who 
worked in Lincoln in the 1910s 
and early ‘20s.  Hundreds of his 
photographs were published in 
2008 as Lincoln in Black & White: 
1910-1925 (by Douglas Keister 
and Ed Zimmer). 

Tour Stop 
9: Johnson
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...And Notorious
T) Rhea, William—executed by State of Nebraska for robbery and 
murder, 1903
U) Starkweather, Charles—mass murders in 1958, executed by 
State of Nebraska, 1959
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